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Goodbye Garra  

 

Wadi Hayl, Fujairah, has managed 

to maintain a balance of modest 

tourism (to the Al-Hayl Fort, the 

residence of Abdullah bin Hamdan 

Al Sharqi) and more-or-less 

traditional mixed agriculture, 

despite massive quarrying in 

much of the surrounding area. 

Wadi Hayl had historically had 

permanent surface water in its 

upper reaches and was home to 

Garra barreimiae, a specialized 

member of the carp family, and 

the only freshwater fish native to 

the interior wadis of the Hajar 

Mountains in the UAE.  

 

 

Garra were recorded in Wadi Hayl through the 1980s, 1990s and 2000s, and in small 

numbers as recently as October 2016, but a visit in early December 2022 raised 

concern when no Garra could be found in the upper streambed or its terminus in a 

small waterfall pool. That change was associated with expansion of the farm plots 

adjacent to the upper wadi, and the construction of new buildings and a dam in the 

uppermost reaches where surface water had been found.  

Now, in late summer 2024, with nearly continuous flow in the wadi following the rains 

in February, March and April, plus a few subsequent local showers on the East 

Coast, there are no fish at all. The conclusion is inescapable, that G. barreimiae is 

now extinct in Wadi Hayl ï the latest of several wadis in which it has been lost. The 

culprit cannot be conclusively determined, but it seems most likely to be a 

combination of over-extraction of water and pollution from the adjacent farming 

activities (possibly including pesticides), perhaps aggravated by the drought years. 
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Contributors ð 

 

Thank you to the following members for 

their contributions this month: 

 

*Alexis Biller 

*Angela Manthorpe 

*Gary Feulner 

*Martin Conway 

*Ulrike Andorff 

 

Sarcophagus of the mourning women 

see page 4 

The waterfall in upper Wadi Hayl in August 2024, still attractive,  

but now devoid of the native wadi fish  Garra barreimiae 

Contribution and photo by Gary Feulner 

https://www.facebook.com/DNHG.UAE/
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Announcements and Recorders  
DNHG Recorders  

Reptiles - Dr. Reza Khan  

M: 050 6563601 

Astronomy - Lamjed El -Kefi  

T: 06 5310467 

Off: 06 5583003  

E: lankefi@emirates.net.ae  

Marine Life - Lamjed El -Kefi  

(contact as above) 

Geology - Gary Feulner  

T: 04 3065570   

E: grfeulner@gmail.com 

Insects - Gary Feulner  

(contact as above) 

Fossils - Valerie Chalmers  

T:  04 8832930 

M: 050 8305018  

E: valeriechalmers@gmail.com  

Plants - Valerie Chalmers   

(contact as above) 

Archaeology - Anelisa Lambert  

M: 056 6904508 

E: anelisalambert@gmail.com 

Seashells - Andrew Childs  

M: 050 4590112  

E: andrew.childs@eim.ae  

Bird Recorder - Panos Azmanis  

M: 050 7083555  

E: azmanis.vet@gmail.com 

MammalsðJacky Judas 

T: 04 354 9776   

M: 050 6181026        

E: jjudas@enwwf.ae 

 

 

 

 

 

 

From the Editor:  

Welcome back from summer vacation!  

Please share with us through the email 
below your observations, stories, 
photos and captions of wildlife, nature 
and history in the UAE or abroad.  

Email:      gazelleeditor@gmail.com   

Deadline: 20-November -2024 

             ...for the October edition... 

We look forward to hearing from you. 

 

It is your contributions that brings 
the Gazelle newsletter to life!  

Monthly Lecture  

Tuesday 26 November 2024 at 7.45pm  

Speaker:  Dr Mohammad Ali Reza Khan 

Topic:   From a tiny 1.7 hectare Dubai Zoo to a 119 hectare 
 Dubai Safari Park - an incredible journey 

Abstract:  

Todayôs topic covers the zooôs journey from 1967 to 2017, the beginning of the first 

Arab zoo in Dubai. It was built on an area of 1.7 hectares or 5 acres of sandy barren 

land in Jumeirah in May 1967. Dubai Zoo was built on the philosophy followed by the 

western zoos of the 1950s, when all zoos had prevalence of bricks, building blocks 

and iron bars for housing wild animals. 

As the first zoo in the Arabian Peninsula and the only one in Dubai vis-à-vis the UAE, 

it was not only open to the public for viewing exhibited animals, but also the only   

centre to receive the confiscated wild animals from all over the country. Thus,       

animals were forced to live under cramped conditions due to space constraints. As 

the zooôs Management Head, I was always keen to have a state-of-the-art modern 

zoo, a visual barrier free one.  

After several preliminary designs and master plan development projects and, with the 

blessings of HH the Ruler of Dubai, the Municipality embarked on the completely new 

Dubai Safari Park project in May 2012. It was completed in 2017, accommodating  

most of the animals and manpower of Dubai Zoo. Its doors opened to the public in 

December 2017, thus closing the door of the old Dubai Zoo forever in November 

2017. 

About the speaker:  

Dr Reza Khan obtained his MSc in Zoology from Dhaka University in 1970 and his 

Doctorate degree in Zoology-Ornithology from Bombay University in 1977. For ten 

years he taught zoology-wildlife biology at Dhaka University and subsequently left the 

teaching profession to join Al Ain Zoo as its curator of birds and primates.  

Dr Khan  moved to Dubai Zoo in June 1989 and was Management Head almost until 

its closure on 5th November 2017. For 41 years he has conducted extensive field      

research on the wildlife of the UAE and, for many years in Bangladesh and India. In 

addition to managing Dubai Zoo, his research in his home country and in the UAE 

resulted in many publications in international wildlife journals and books. Dr Reza has            

four books to his name on the flora and fauna of the UAE and over a dozen books in 

Bengali and English on Bangladesh. On 2nd October 2024, Dr Khan retired from  

Dubai Safari Park as its principal Wildlife Specialist. 

Dr Reza Khan with a  
ñhandfulò of his rescues 

mailto:mailto:gazelleeditor@gmail.com
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Adenium obesum - The Desert Rose  

Having observed few insects pollinating this plant in either UAE or Socotra ð and no animal            

appearing to forage the plant either, I thought to ask our local Socotra guides for their insights. I 

was informed that the plant was used as a type of poison and for some form of medication. 

The Desert Rose (Adenium obesum) is a poisonous species of a flowering plant from the 

Nerieae tribe of flower. Native to the Sahel regions south of the Sahara from Mauritania and 

Senegal to Sudan, tropical and subtropical eastern and southern Africa, as well as the Arabian 

Peninsula. The flower is known by a variety of names: Sabi star, Kudu, Mock azalea and Impala 

lily. 

From horticultural literature, all parts of the plant are deemed to contain toxins; these include   

Cardiac glycosides. As a result the plant is deemed resistant to wild animal foraging. Whilst it 

does not significantly attract wildlife, the pollen can be a source of nectar for some pollinators 

such as butterflies and hummingbirds. 

In terms of human uses:  

The extract of the plant has been recorded for use in arrow head coating, homicidal or suicidal 

aids, rat poison, heart tonics, diuretics, and emetics (inducing vomiting).  

In terms of medicinal usage: 

The glycosides organic compound increases the output force of the heart, whilst decreasing the 

rate of contractions. This could be helpful for individuals who have suffered heart failure, yet 

could likely also result in blurred vision, sleepiness, indigestion, and abnormal heart rhythms.  

Gardeners are advised to wear gloves when handling. 

 

 

For those wishing to explore other varieties of the Desert Rose 

please go to the following links: 

https://balconygardenweb.com/types-of-desert-rose-varieties/ 

Wikipedia 

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Adenium_obesum 

 
Contribution and photos by Alexis Biller 

https://balconygardenweb.com/types-of-desert-rose-varieties/
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Adenium_obesum
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Contribution and photos by Martin Conway 

(continued on page 5) 

Istanbul  

The most lasting impression of the recent trip to Istanbul is its many overlapping levels. 

The broad avenues by the waterôs edge give way to narrow roads bustling with people and cars climbing 

the steep hills between tall houses and apartment blocks that squeeze every ounce out of the available 

space. 

With open space a premium, the cityôs roof top level has become its playground; a  patchwork of roof  

terraces that provide a welcome respite from the cityôs relentless pace. The sweeping views of the old 

city and the waters it dominates leaves an indelible memory on any visitor. 

From Constantine establishing the city as capital of the Roman Empire in 330 CE, across the 1100 years 

of the Byzantine Empire, then as seat of power of the Ottoman Empire until the 20
th
 century, its periodic 

reinvention has left a richly layered  architectural and historical heritage. 

Amid the cramped houses and the narrow streets rises a set of architectural  masterpieces and museums 

that were the focus of our trip; the use by different cultures and religious practices was evident in many of 

the places we visited. 

The great flat space of the hippodrome now renamed Sultanahmet Square embraces the cityôs Greek 

and Roman heritage while being dominated at the one end by the Hagia Sophia, the most impressive of 

the Byzantine Empireôs achievements, and flanked by the Blue Mosque, an equally impressive product of 

the Ottoman Empire. 

Along the length of the hippodrome three columns remain the defining features on  display. The serpent 

column brought by Constantine, whose remaining serpent heads are now on display in the                     

archaeological museum. The Obelisk of Theodosius is an Egyptian obelisk brought to adorn the                     

hippodrome in 357 AD with the carving around its base celebrating its raising. The set of columns is  

completed by the Walled Obelisk  constructed in the 10
th
 century CE. 

Further up the hill from these columns, the most direct           

connection to the period of Constantine is visible. The Tower of 

Constantine, was erected in 330 CE and was formerly topped 

with a statue of the emperor himself. Now ringed with metal 

hoops to protect it, the tower is all that remains of the forum 

that governed the ancient city. 

The role of the Hippodrome, as focal point of Constantinopleôs 

social and political life, was highlighted by a visit to the Hagia 

Sophia History and Experience museum. The museum provides 

a guided audio visual tour that describes the evolution of the 

city from its establishment through to the present. 

It tells the story of the failed attempts to build the Hagia 

Sophiaôs magnificent dome and the brutal suppression of the 

Nika riots by the Emperor Justian before his construction of the 

Hagia Sophia we know today. 

The museum created the context needed to fully appreciate the 

visit to the Hagia Sophia itself. This vast space, now only      

accessible to visitors via the gallery on the first level, still has 

the ability to awe visitors. From church, to mosque, to museum 

and now mosque again the Hagia Sophia is a powerful         

reminder of the cityôs many layers. 

Aspects of its past, while partially obscured, are still integral to the building. Serpahim 

still grace its walls, the Virgin and Child partially obscured but still visible. Attempts to 

remove symbols on walls contrast sharply with those that remain on doors and columns. 

One of the most powerful expressions of the heritage of the Roman/Byzantine period 

was to be found underground. Built to provide the expanding city with water the Cisterna 

Basilica is the largest of 700 cisterns that satisfied the cityôs thirst for fresh water. 

Suleymaniye Mosque 

Blue Mosque 

Hagia Sophia 

Obelisk of Teodosius ïTheodosius offers Victory 

Laurels 

Seraph in Hagia Sophia 

Hagia Sophia interior 
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Topkapi Palace interior 

Along with the large aquaducts, remains of which still dominate some parts of the city, the cistern is a 

spectacular site. Descending from the street into the semi-darkness, row after row of tall classical        

columns rise up from the water to support the huge space.  The metal walkways that snake through the 

columns give the chance to appreciate spaces previously only accessible by small boats, including the 

famous Medusa heads. 

Back above ground, the archaeological museum also beautifully illustrated the many layers of history 

upon which todayôs Istanbul rests. This huge museum contains rooms full of a rich collection of Greek, 

Roman and Byzantine artefacts that reflect the city and its people. Most notable being the huge           

sarcophagi from Sidon, the exhibit that covers the rediscovery of ancient Troy and, the rooms crammed 

with statues of the cityôs ancient inhabitants and their gods. 

Our focus on Byzantine period was complemented by visits to sites that reflect the achievements of the 

Ottoman period. One particular area of focus being the work of the architect Mimar Sinan. The Chief   

architect and engineer to three sultans, Sinan has left a lasting mark on the cityôs architecture. 

Most impressive of the sights being the Suleymaniye 

Mosque, this huge mosque sits high on one of the cityôs 

many hills with sweeping views across the city and the 

water. 

Built in 1550 and modelled on the Hagia Sophia, the 

mosque itself, its gardens and the mausoleums for the 

Sultan Sulieman and his wife, are a magnificent         

example of  Sinanôs work and the largest of the Ottoman 

era mosques. 

The Ottoman focus of the trip also included a visit to  

another of Sinanôs major works, the ķehzade 

Mosque which was built as a memorial to the Sultan  

Suliemanôs son and a visit to the tomb of Sinan himself. 

Ottoman opulence was on full display in the Topkapi 

Palace where the grandeur of the public spaces was 

contrasted with the intimacy of the private harem. 

While large sites were a major focus of the trip, they were complemented by visits 

to smaller and more intimate locations. Most notable of these being the Rustem 

Pasha Mosque with its stunning blue tiles hidden at the heart of the Egyptian  

market and the Kariye Mosque, a church dating from the 4
th
 century AD with its 

exquisite frescos. 

In such a short trip with such variety it is impossible to do every sight, sound and 

taste we experienced justice, but they still remain vivid memories. We would like 

to express our sincere thanks to Konstantina and Sonja for all the hard work that 

made this trip a success and we look forward to the next one. 

 

(continued from page 4) 

Columns supporting the 

Basilica Cistern 

Medusa Head in the  

Basilica Cistern 

Istanbul Archaeological 

Museum -  Phoenician  

Sarcophagus 

Topkapi - Imperial Hall Rustem Pasha Mosque 

interior 

Kariye Mosque Fresco  - Resurrection Kariye Mosque Fresco - Virgin and Child 

Istanbul Archaeological 

Museum -  Lycian            

sarcophagus of Sidon 
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Road Trip through Greeceôs Hidden Gems: The stone-arched bridges of Zagori  

With much excitement we reached one of the many highlights during our ñHidden Gemsò tour in the northwest of Greece. The 

Zagori region was added to the list of Cultural Landscapes (geoparks) by UNESCO in September 2023 acknowledging the       

universal value of Zagori's architecture as a representative example of traditional, stone-built settlements. 

 The name Zagori originates from the Slavic words ñzaò meaning ñbehindò and ñgoraò meaning ñmountainò, i.e. ñthe land behind the 

mountainsò as the region is nestled in the Pindus mountains with its rich natural environment and the national park Vikos ï Aoos. 

After a stone-deep sleep in a typical stone house and a lavish breakfast we met George, our guide, to go hiking on a few out of the 

around 100 (!) stone arched bridges, through thick forests where the mushroom season was in full force and along the rough cliffs 

of the mountain range to the Koukouli Village for a break at a natural spring. During our hikes in the following days, we admired    

additional bridges. 

The single-, double- or even triple-arched stone bridges are truly engineering wonders. Built during the 17
th
 to the 19

th
 century, 

they replaced older wooden bridges and were often rebuilt after becoming damaged or destroyed. The traditional bridges         

connected the villages, mills and farmland until modern roads opened in the 1950ôs. The bridges were built or paid for by and   

consequently named after the merchants who originated from the nearby villages that funded the constructions. The construction 

of a bridge typically started and finished within one dry season. Some of the fine examples are pictured with architectural details 

below.  

Big thanks to Konstantina for offering such amazing experiences accompanied with her deep insights of the Greek history  

throughout our trip. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contribution and photos by Ulrike Andorff 

The most impressive 3-arches Mylos Bridge 

was built in 1748 to reach the local mill 

(stone building behind), therefore the 

bridgeôs name ñMylosò, the Greek word for 

mill. The two largest arches stand in the 

deep river bed; the smallest is a flood arch. 

Dimensions of the arches spans 9.6m, height 

4.3m, 8.6m/3.5m, 3.9m/1.6m, walkway is 

41m long, 2.3m wide. 

Noutsos or Kokkoros Bridge, built in 1750, 

spans the river of Vikos at one of the       

impressive narrowings in the river by two 

large rocks. Arch spans 24m, height is 

11.6m, walkway is 39m long, 2.5m wide. The 

name Noutsos originates from three       

sponsors with this name. The name         

Kokkoros originates from the person who 

funded the correction of the steep incline of 

the cobble way. 

Kontodimos or Lazaridis Bridge built in 1764 

or 1758, crosses upper Vikos. The arch 

spans 15m, height 6.5m, supported by a 

blind arch; walkway 17.8m long, 2.4m wide; 

one side built with a 45-degree corner turn 

that runs parallel to the rock face. The bridge 

was named after the sponsor. 

Voidomatis Bridge built 1853, crosses the 

Voidomatis River, the arch spans 20.5m, 

height 7.1m, walkway 45m long, 2.3m wide. 

Plakida-Kalogeriko Bridge was built 1814. 

Originally, the bridge was wooden but, with 

the sponsorship of the monastery of Kipi 

Seraphim, it was turned to stone and     

therefore called ñKalogerikoò (monk). In 1865 

the bridge got a 2nd name, ñBridge of      

Plakidasò because of its repair by Alexis and 

Andreas Plakidas. 

Vradeto Bridge leading to the Vradeto stair 

trail ï great exercise to reach Vradeto  Vil-

lage by1200 stone steps and 39 turns. Stone 

work from early 18th century. Up to 1973, the 

village could be only reached by the stone 

steps. 


